
This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concernedwithin one week of the date of publicationto the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

98-81844 (E)

United Nations A/C.2/53/SR.23

General Assembly Distr.: General
Fifty-third session 17 December1998

English
Official Records Original: French

Second Committee

Summary record of the 23rd meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Friday, 23 October 1998, at 10 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Asadi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (Islamic Republic of Iran)

Contents
Agenda item 93: Sustainable development and international economic cooperation
(continued)

(a) Implementation of and follow-up to major consensus agreements on development
(continued)

(i) Implementation of the commitments and policies agreed upon in the
Declaration on International Economic Cooperation, in particular the
Revitalization of the Economic Growth and Development of the Developing
Countries (continued)

(ii) Implementation of the International Development Strategy for the Fourth
United Nations Development Decade (continued)

(b) Integration of the economies in transition into the world economy (continued)

Agenda item 94: Environment and sustainable development (continued)

(b) Protection of global climate for present and future generations of mankind
(continued)

(c) Implementation of the outcome of the Global Conference on the Sustainable
Development of Small Island Developing States (continued)

(d) Convention on Biological Diversity (continued)

(e) Implementation of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in
Those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, Particularly
in Africa (continued)

<<ODS JOB NO>>N9881844E<<ODS JOB NO>> <<ODS DOC SYMBOL1>>A/C.2/53/SR.23<<ODS DOC SYMBOL1>> <<ODS DOC SYMBOL2>><<ODS DOC SYMBOL2>> 



A/C.2/53/SR.23

2

The meeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m. A/53/371–S/1998/848, A/53/416, A/53/425 and

Agenda item 93: Sustainable development and
international economic cooperation(continued)

(a) Implementation of and follow-up to major
consensus agreements on development
(continued)

(i) Implementation of the commitments and policies
agreed upon in the Declaration on International
Economic Cooperation, in particular the
Revitalization of the Economic Growth and
Development of the Developing Countries (e) Implementation of the United Nations
(continued) Convention to Combat Desertification in Those

(ii) Implementation of the International
Development Strategy for the Fourth United
Nations Development Decade(continued)

Draft resolution on implementation of the commitments
and policies agreed upon in the Declaration on
International Economic Cooperation, in particular the 3. Mr. Hapsoro (Indonesia), introducing draft resolution
Revitalization of Economic Growth and Development of A/C.2/53/L.11 on behalf of the Group of 77 and China, said
the Developing Countries, and implementation of the that the El Niño phenomenon was a recurrent and predictable
International Development Strategy for the Fourth phenomenon. He expressed satisfaction that the international
United Nations Development Decade(A/C.2/53/L.12) communityhad strengthened its cooperation with the affected

1. Mr. Hidayat (Indonesia), introducing draft resolution
A/C.2/53/L.12 on behalf of the Group of 77 and China, said 4.Mr. Canuto (Holy See) said that the question of
that the recent financial crisis had demonstrated the protecting the global climate could be stated quite succinctly:
importance of the International Development Strategy. Some could developing countries modernize their societies without
thought would have to be given to the preparation of a new endangering the environment? Half of all greenhouse gas
strategy for the next decade. In that connection, the emissions originated from the use of fossil fuels. The
Secretary-General, in the analytical report that he was activities of 25 per cent of the world’s population were
requested to submit, should highlight the areas that should responsible for 75 per cent of global emissions. It had
receive greater attention in the strategy for the Fifth United formerlybeen assumed that the developing countries should
Nations Development Decade. follow the same development path as the developed countries,

(b) Integration of the economies in transition into
the world economy(continued)

Draft resolution on integration of the economies in
transition into the world economy(A/C.2/53/L.13)

2. Mr. Reva (Ukraine), introducing draft resolution
A/C.2/53/L.13, said that the United States of America had
become a sponsor. He hoped that the text would be adopted
by consensus.

Agenda item 94: Environment and sustainable
development(continued) (A/53/25,
A/53/72–S/1998/156, A/53/95–S/1998/311, A/53/96,
A/53/156–S/1998/78, A/53/165–S/1998/601,

A/53/487)

(b) Protection of global climate for present and
future generations of mankind (continued)
(A/53/449)

(c) Implementation of the outcome of the Global
Conference on the Sustainable Development of
Small Island Developing States(continued)
(A/53/65–E/1998/5 and A/53/358)

(d) Convention on Biological Diversity (continued)
(A/53/451)

Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or
Desertification, Particularly in Africa (continued)
(A/53/516)

Draft resolution on international cooperation to reduce
the impact of the El Niño phenomenon(A/C.2/53/L.11)

countries.

regardless of differences in resource availability, social
structure, political orientation or historical background. That
approach had not succeeded. It had also been thought that the
economy was self-regulating and that an alarm system would
sound when natural resources began to be depleted; that was
not the case. The pursuit of individual interests, without
regard for diminishing natural resources had led to
unsustainable development. There was no magic formula and
technology alone could not solve all problems.

5. The over-exploitation of natural resources had led to
the degradation of the environment through desertification,
deforestation, the depletion of the ozone layer, the
eutrophication of lakes and streams, and the extinction of
plant and animal species. Almost 20 years earlier, Pope John
Paul II had stressed that care must be taken in the application



A/C.2/53/SR.23

3

of advances in science and technology, and that it was not 9. Turkey considered that commitments should take due
possible to interfere in one area of the ecosystem withoutaccount of the specific circumstances and responsibilities of
paying due attention both to the consequences of such the parties concerned. Since Turkey was a much less
interference in other areas and to the well-being of future important source of pollution than the other countries listed
generations. Sixty per cent of the world’s population lived in in the annexes, it requested that its inclusion in those annexes
remote areas, with no access to conventional sources of should be reconsidered.
energy. The only solution was to burn virgin forests.

6. After the first revolution, which saw the development development required a holistic approach and there was a
of agriculture, and the industrial revolution, the time had need for greater linkage between environmental protection
come to begin a third revolution, based on the exchange of and economic and social development. The future of
knowledge and information. In order for development to be sustainable development was largely in the hands of local and
sustainable, it was necessary to move away from the use of national authorities; global solutions should be saved for
natural resources to the use of knowledge. The developing global problems. While far away from major centres of
countries needed to industrialize and eradicate poverty, population and pollution, New Zealand recognized the
unemployment and illiteracy without compromising their importance of being part of the solution for problems that had
future. Thus far, all attempts to solve those problems global effects.
separately had failed. Environmental concerns should be
viewed not as an additional problem but as a catalyst that
would enable humanity to achieve all its goals.

7. Mr. Özturk (Turkey) said that his country had but incomplete achievement. The fourth session of the
expressed the wish that reference to Turkey should be deleted Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework
from annexes I and II of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change offered an opportunity to
Convention on Climate Change. Although it was in general resolve some issues left outstanding. Priority should be given
agreement with the spirit of the Convention, Turkey had not to developing rules for emissions trading. Such trading should
acceded to the Convention because it had been included in proceed on a liberal and open basis without such restrictions
annexes I and II together with developed countries that had as quotas or ceilings that would introduce distortions into the
completed their industrialization, and economies in transition. market and impair its efficiency. It was important that the
Turkey’s inclusion in those annexes entailed responsibilities rules to be developed should focus on ways of making
that it was currently not in a position to undertake. Its emissions trading practical and effective.
anthropogenic emissions were one tenth the average of the
countries listed in annex II, and its energy consumption was
about one fifth the average of the countries members of the
Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
(OECD) and one fourth the average of the countries of the
European Union. Its contribution to global warming was only
a fraction of that of the countries listed in annex II. Although
it was not a party to the Convention, Turkey was aware of its
responsibilities. It had taken the necessary legislative steps
to reduce its emission levels as envisaged for the countries
listed in annex I. It continued to contribute to the Global
Environment Facility, as called for in annex II, and provided
significant financial aid to developing countries.

8. The matter of Turkey’s exclusion from the annexes of
the Framework Convention had been taken up at the third
session of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention in
Kyoto and at the meeting of the Subsidiary Body for
Implementation in Bonn; it would be further discussed at the
fourth session of the Conference of the Parties in Buenos
Aires in November 1998.

10. Ms. MacDonald (New Zealand) said that sustainable

11. New Zealand shared the concerns of the countries in its
region and other countries vulnerable to the consequences of
climate change. It regarded the Kyoto Protocol as a positive

12. The recent South Pacific Forum meeting had
emphasized the deep concern of its members about the impact
of climate change. New Zealand had associated itself with the
Forum Leaders statement on climate change (A/53/416,
appendix II), in which the Forum stressed that the developed
countries should take the lead in combating climate change
and underscored the urgent need for wider global
participation.

13. Her delegation welcomed the progress made at the
fourth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the
Convention on Biological Diversity in Bratislava in May1998
and was pleased that it had recognized the importance of
cooperation with other processes and organizations. It was
essential to avoid duplication of effort and to make use of the
strengths of other entities.

14. The work of the Convention on Biological Diversity
should be conducted in an efficient and transparent way that
enabled smaller delegations to participate. Small island
developing States were particularly vulnerable to such global
phenomena as climate change and sea-level rise for which



A/C.2/53/SR.23

4

they bore little responsibility. It was up to the international 18.Mr. Ronneberg (Marshall Islands), referring to the
community to ensure that their future was not jeopardized. In protection of global climate, said that his Government was
that context, New Zealand welcomed the initiatives scheduled activelysupporting the efforts of the scientific community to
for 1999 and the implementation of the Barbados Programme find solutions to the problem of climate change. The
of Action. It hoped that the forthcoming special session of the industrialized countries should take stronger measures to cut
General Assembly would provide a blueprint for the complete their greenhouse-gas emissions; in that connection the Kyoto
and effective implementation of the Programme of Action, and Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on
welcomed the role that the Committee on Sustainable Climate Change was entirely inadequate because the arbitrary
Development had been given in helping to prepare for the concessions it granted were likely to undermine more
special session. extensive reduction efforts. A more scientific approach should

15. Mr. Koech (Kenya) said that Kenya had prepared a
national action plan to combat desertification, which was
being implemented under the auspices of the National 19. Nationally, his Government had established a national
Environmental Secretariat. Desertification was a major climate change committee comprised of representatives from
concern to Kenya since about 80 per cent of its territory was a number of ministries and from local businesses. That
affected by that phenomenon and some 10 million people committee would propose appropriate action to advance the
lived in poverty because of the impact of drought. Kenya’s implementation of the Framework Convention. At the Buenos
long-term objective was to achieve sustainable development Aires Conference of the Parties to the Convention, the
by means of poverty-alleviation, food-security and Marshall Islands would work closely with the Alliance of
environment-conservation strategies. For that purpose, the Small Island States to direct the application of the Convention
authorities had to organize programmes that involved all the and the Kyoto Protocol towards concrete action.
stakeholders and to create the necessary legal framework. In
order to succeed, the National Action Plan would have to
incorporate the contributions of Kenya’s various
socio-cultural groups.

16. As the programmes of the National Action Plan showed, communityhad been very inadequate in comparison with the
while the Government was taking an active part in combating significant national and subregional efforts made. The
desertification, it was also supported by non-governmental Marshall Islands favoured convening the round table that
organizations that worked at the grass-roots level and by would shortly bring together the small island developing
donors and international organizations that provided financial States and thedonor Governments and agencies. That
and technical support. The Plan’s steering committee initiative might assist those countries in implementing the
included representatives of the Government, Barbados Programme of Action. It would be helpful if the
non-governmental organizations, universities and donor community made voluntary contributions that would
international organizations. It supported the National NGO allow small island States which were not United Nations
Coordinating Committee on Desertification, which was made Members to participate both in the round table and in the
up of non-governmental organizations involved in special session of the General Assembly that would in1999
desertification issues. The Plan also included general make an assessment of the progress made in the follow-up to
public-awareness programmes; it had reached many districts the Global Conference on the Sustainable Development of
in Kenya and was currently providing assistance to local Small Island Developing States.
communities.

17. In spite of some difficulties, such as insufficient Islands and other Pacific island countries had made significant
resources and inadequate technology, Kenya was now firmly contributions to the discussions at the Conference of the
committed to combating desertification. It called on the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity held in
General Assembly to promote action to assist countries, Bratislava. They had organized a preparatory workshop, with
particularly countries in Africa, in implementing regional the support of several States and non-governmental
plans of action. To that end, adequate resources, together with organizations, that had been instrumental in allowing them
capacity-building programmes, should be made available to to present a unified position at the Conference.
those countries.

be taken in determining which industrialized countries should
reduce their emissions further.

20. With regard to small island developing States and the
implementation of the Barbados Programme of Action, the
Commission on Sustainable Development had noted with
concern that the response by the international donor

21. On the question of biological diversity, the Marshall

22. The issue of biosafety was being hotly debated in the
context of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Many



A/C.2/53/SR.23

5

developing countries feared that they would become testing organizations and, in the context of technical cooperation
grounds for potentially dangerous new substances. A totally among developing countries, it had established relations with
free trading regime for bioengineered products exposed those several Asian countries for the protection of forests. Those
countries to serious risk. The Marshall Islands was currently common activities facilitated the exchange of experiences and
drafting a set of rules to govern biosafety issues in the favoured the implementation of the commitments under the
country, on which it would report to the next session of the Convention.
Conference of the Parties to the Convention.

23. Regarding desertification, the Marshall Islands had Convention to Combat Desertification since1997, had long
recently acceded to the Convention to Combat Desertification. been cognizant of the consequences of desertification, which
The country had suffered a severe drought in1997 and was affected Central Myanmar. As part of a reforestation project
trying to mitigate the short-term effects with technical and in the nine districts of the arid zone of the country, it had
material assistance from Japan and the United States, created plantations with the participation of the local
although a long-term strategy would be required. The population, who would be entitled to use the fuelwood that
Marshall Islands looked forward to participating in the second would be produced. The plantations should improve their
session of the Conference of the Parties to that important living conditions, while halting soil erosion and improving
Convention. climatic conditions. A project of that kind had been carried

24. Mr. U Win Aung (Myanmar) said that biological
diversity was not the sum of all ecosystems and species but
represented the variability within and among them. It was
consequently a vast domain. With human beings totally
dependent upon the fauna and flora of the world for their
survival, it was imperative to preserve biodiversity. Myanmar
attached the utmost importance to the question. It had been
one of the original signatories of the Convention on Biological
Diversity, and was party to a number of agreements and
conventions for the protection of the natural world.
Furthermore, its traditions and culture were very respectful
of all forms of life. 28. Mr. Sersale di Cerisano(United Nations Industrial

25. Currently, protected forests covered 2 per cent of the
total land area of the country, but the long-term objective was
to raise that to 10 per cent. Myanmar was very rich in animal
and plant species, many still not identified. Its legislation
provided various categories of protection for its fauna, and
official forest reserves covered more than 100,000 square
miles. Thanks to its experience over more than a century in
forest management, it had successfully developed a system
combining rational exploitation and the protection of
biodiversity.

26. Nevertheless, a rich natural endowment was not enough,
for it still had to be managed more systematically and
scientifically. That would require regional, interregional and
international cooperation with regard, in particular, to the
management of activities to conserve biological diversity, the
protection of migratory species, and the development of
institutions and capabilities, especially in setting up a
database information system. Myanmar was working closely
on wildlife protection with the United Nations Development
Programme (UNDP), the Food and Agriculture Organization
of the United Nations (FAO) and various non-governmental

27. His Government, a party to the United Nations

out in the Mount Popa region and was having a visible impact
on both the climate and the well-being of the inhabitants. The
reforestation project showed that political will on the part of
the authorities together with the active participation of the
rural people could produce miracles. Yet despite the resolve
of the Government and the population, their means were
limited, and assistance was needed, in funds, in technical
know-how or in kind, to combat desertification more
vigourously. Myanmar welcomed, in that connection, the
forthcoming second session of the Conference of the Parties
to the Convention to be held in Dakar.

Development Organization) said that his organization was
resolved to contribute to the successful outcome of the fourth
session of the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change. With a mandate
to promote sustainable industrial development, the United
Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO)
worked in several areas related to the environment, especially
the transfer of environmentally sound technologies. It had
facilitated the holding of a think-tank meeting on climate
change organized recently by the Group of 77, and had
organized an expert group meeting in Vienna in October 1998
on the Clean Development Mechanism and sustainable
industrial development. The Climate Change Convention and
the Kyoto Protocol dealt with issues that would have an
impact on development cooperation and industrial investment,
and thus on the policy guidelines of UNIDO, particularly with
regard to the promotion of technical innovations and the
search for financing. Mindful of the crucial importance of
climate change, and wishing to assist developing countries
and countries with economies in transition to implement the
provisions of the Framework Convention and the Kyoto
Protocol, UNIDO was streamlining its structure and technical



A/C.2/53/SR.23

6

capabilities, and it urged the developed countries to review the implementation of the Convention to Combat
their production and consumption patterns and to finance the Desertification.
transfer and adaptation of clean technologies.

29. The developing countries, whose importance to global Development) said that she would focus mainly on the efforts
industrial development was increasing, could play a decisive made by the International Fund for Agricultural Development
role in the negotiations on climate change. The Kyoto (IFAD) to establish the Global Mechanism provided for in the
Protocol, which was aimed at the reduction of emissions of Convention to Combat Desertification. Since combating
greenhouse gases, was a milestone on the road to sustainable desertification was within its mandate, IFAD had invested
industrial development. In some areas, it provided for flexible over $3 billion in local development and local
mechanisms which could serve as a basis for cooperation; capacity-building projects in arid regions. In terms of
discussion should be centred on the directives to be technical assistance, it had granted subsidies to meet the
implemented particularly with regard to technology transfer, needs of small farmers in fragile ecosystems and had
new and additional resources, clean development mechanisms developed technologies likely to have a long-range impact
and the exchange of emission rights for annex B countries (pest resistant species, improved water reclamation systems
from a global standpoint, so as to move the negotiations and low-cost soil and water protection measures). Following
forward. The implementation of the Protocol was essential, the devastating droughts that had ravaged sub-Saharan
particularly in order to establish the basic rules for the African countries in the early1980s, IFAD had been the first
financing of clean development mechanisms. Judging by the international financial institution to draw up a special
current trend in official development assistance and the programme of assistance for those countries, for which over
implementation of the Kyoto mechanisms, it would probably $700 million had been mobilized.
be necessary to seek new financing sources for clean
development mechanisms, such as the investment promoted
by trade liberalization and the dynamism of the private sector,
or, in the case of technology transfers leading to reduced
emissions, the exchange of emission rights. That financing
modality which was likely to become very important in the
future, was currently the subject of a research project
undertaken by UNIDO.

30. Mr. Acemah (Uganda) said that his country attached that decision. IFAD welcomed the successful outcome of the
importance to the follow-up to the United Nations Conference negotiations on modalities for cooperation with the
on Environment and Development and the first session of the Convention secretariat; a memorandum of understanding
Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Convention would be submitted during the second session of the
to Combat Desertification, held in Rome. The challenge of Conference of the Parties, to be held at Dakar.
sustainable development was particularly rigorous in fragile
ecosystems, such as the Sahelian region – whence the crucial
importance of the Convention, which provided the basic
framework. His delegation was concerned at the slow pace
of efforts to establish the Global Mechanism, and hoped that
the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD),
the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and
the World Bank would honour their commitments in that area
without delay. It was to be hoped that the international
community would provide the Convention secretariat with the
resources needed to discharge its mandate. His delegation
welcomed the signing of the Headquarters Agreement
between the United Nations and Germany, the host country,
and hoped that the secretariat could move to Bonn at the
beginning of 1999 as planned. His delegation further
endorsed the establishment of a committee, which should be
a subsidiary body of the Conference of the Parties, to review

31. Ms. Weill-Hallé (International Fund for Agricultural

32. IFAD was convinced that combating desertification
depended mainly on resource mobilization and effective
planning, and that in addition, partnership was essential,
particularly with countries affected by the scourge of
desertification. Decisive steps had been taken towards the
establishment of the Global Mechanism; in 1997, IFAD had
been chosen by the Conference of the Parties to house the
Global Mechanism. In 1998 its Executive Board had endorsed

33. It should be recalled that at the outset the Global
Mechanism had been envisaged, not as a central financing
body, but as the hub of a dynamic network of partners, each
making a specific contribution to combating desertification.
In that spirit, the Conference of the Parties had approved the
inter-institutional cooperation agreement and IFAD, UNDP
and the World Bank had established a committee to facilitate
the functioning of the Global Mechanism, the membership of
which had been enlarged. By the end of 1998 the Facilitation
Committee would have held three meetings, which would
have enabled it to define its main functions, the modalities for
cooperation between it and the Global Mechanism and its own
method of functioning, which would be as a consultative body
outside the structure of the Global Mechanism, to be called
into action as needed and authorized to establish working
groups on specific questions.



A/C.2/53/SR.23

7

34. In terms of partnership, IFAD worked in collaboration Commission on Human Settlements. He looked forward to the
with the Global Environment Facility (preparation and early implementation of the proposed reforms.
co-financing of investment projects in arid regions), UNDP
(requests for support services for country teams) and the Food
and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)
(memorandum of understanding on joint initiatives in the
framework of the Convention). It also maintained close ties
with the private sector and with civil society. In June 1998
it had sponsored a workshop held in the United States
Congress which had provided an opportunity for further
consideration of the Global Mechanism in the context of rural
poverty alleviation. IFAD was also working with the
secretariat of the Conference of the Parties and with a group
of non-governmental organizations to raise global awareness
of the problem of desertification.

35. With regard to the organization of the Global
Mechanism, the establishment of a programme execution
database on the financial needs of developing countries
affected by desertification was already well advanced. Thanks
to generous contributions from Germany and Sweden, it had
been possible to recruit the Director-General of the
Mechanism. The recruitment of the other core staff members
should take place at the beginning of 1999. IFAD was
convinced of the essential contribution that the Convention
to Combat Desertification and the Global Mechanism would
make to the fight against poverty and environmental
degradation, and deeply appreciated the contribution that its
members and partners in the United Nations system and civil
society were making to the establishment of the Global
Mechanism.

36. Mr. Kiriella (Sri Lanka) said that, although significant
developments had taken place with regard to the environment
and sustainable development, there was still a long way to go
to achieve the targets that had been set. The Second
Committee should review the progress made in implementing
Agenda 21 and the programme adopted at the nineteenth
special session of the General Assembly devoted to the
overall review and appraisal of the implementation of Agenda
21, as well as the progress made in implementing the United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, the
Convention on Biological Diversity and the United Nations
Convention to Combat Desertification in Those Countries
Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification,
Particularly in Africa.

37. In his report on United Nations reform, the
Secretary-General had attached great importance to the
environment, considering that it had a major bearing on
development activities of the United Nations system, and had
proposed strengthening and restructuring the United Nations
Environment Programme (UNEP) and the United Nations

38. While environmental degradation had become a major
obstacle to the achievement of sustainable development, it
was encouraging that positive developments had taken place
in the work of the Commission on Sustainable Development
and UNEP as a result of the decisions taken at the nineteenth
special session of the General Assembly. In partnership with
the various United Nations programmes and organizations
dealing with the environment, both the Commission and
UNEP should continue to serve as key mechanisms of
industrial cooperation in the field of sustainable development.

39. Despite the difficulties faced by his country, the
Government was endeavouring to implement Agenda 21 and
had already made some progress in addressing the problems
of poverty and unemployment. In that context, the sixth World
Congress of environmental journalists had been held in
Colombo; environmental journalists played a crucial role in
focusing attention on environmental issues and in finding
solutions to environmental problems.

40. Sri Lanka was committed to protecting its biodiversity
and in 1995 had celebrated its first national biodiversity day
with the opening of a permanent biodiversity exhibition and
the release of a biodiversity newsletter. It was also
establishing national plans in various fields such as
biodiversity, forestry, fisheries, coastal conservation and the
conservation of medicinal plants.

41. The National Environmental Act dated back to 1982.
The Ministry of the Environment had adopted an integrated
approach to conservation and the sustainable use of natural
resources as part of a highly detailed action plan prepared in
conjunction with various governmental agencies and the
associated sector. The plan included,inter alia, the
implementation of the Conventions adopted at the Rio
Conference and significant training and awareness-raising
activities, in particular for young people and in the field of
biodiversity. The Ministry of the Environment had also
established inter-agency coordinating committees to
implement those Conventions and provide sector-specific
environmental advocacy.

42. His Government had focused on improving the capacity
of non-governmental organizations and the private sector to
share the responsibility of managing the environment. In
1995, it had launched a poverty alleviation programme,
covering one third of the country’s population, which
consisted in ensuring a minimum income through a direct
income transfer.



A/C.2/53/SR.23

8

43. Non-governmental organizations, business, industry and the activities to be carried out under the Convention. The
the Government were engaged in a consultative process aimed transfer of environmentally sound technologies and the
at achieving the targets set in Agenda 21 and other Rio exchange of experience in combating desertification were also
agreements. A policy decision had also been taken to establish effective ways of implementing the Convention.
a National Council for Sustainable Development in order to
encourage broad participation of all the relevant groups in the
decision-making process and in the implementation of
measures towards sustainable development.

44. In conclusion, he appealed to international donor resources, and, on the other hand, the fight against poverty
agencies and the developed countries to support the and the improvement of agricultural methods. Particular
sustainable development activities which the developing attention should be paid to the potential of new and renewable
countries, despite the great difficulties which they faced, were sources of energy in combating deforestation. In that regard,
undertaking. it would be useful to consider the extent to which activities

45. Mr. Ka (Senegal), referring to the question of
combating desertification, said that, with the first session of
the Conference of the Parties, held in Rome in 1997, the
Convention on Desertification had entered a decisive phase
in its implementation and in the institutional follow-up to its
activities. In deciding to host the second session of the 49.Mr. Staehelin (Observer for Switzerland) said that his
Conference of the Parties, which was scheduled to take place country attached great importance to the three international
in the near future in Dakar, his Government sought to conventions on biodiversity, climate change and
contribute to the consolidation of the gains achieved in Rome. desertification which had been adopted as part of the Rio
That decision also demonstrated his country’s wish to assume process, as they set forth legally binding commitments in key
its share of the joint responsibility for combating areas of environmental protection. It was essential to promote
desertification. the universal ratification of those Conventions and to ensure

46. In view of their dramatic and global consequences,
desertification and drought demanded decisive joint action. 50. Concerning the problem of climate change, the
In that connection, he emphasized that all the instruments calculated targets set in the Kyoto Protocol for the limitation
resulting from the Rio process should receive equal treatment and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by the
since they were of equal significance in the quest for industrialized countries were inadequate. It was therefore
sustainable development. essential, at the fourth Conference of the Parties, scheduled

47. Much remained to be done to establish a solid
foundation for the Convention, and it was a matter of urgency
to find a satisfactory solution to questions which had not been
resolved at the Conference of the Parties in Rome. In that
connection, he referred to the pending articles of the rules of
procedure of the Conference of the Parties, the mechanism 51. Switzerland planned to ratify and faithfully implement
for assessing the implementation of the Convention, the work the Kyoto Protocol at the same time as its partners in the
programme of the Committee on Science and Technology, the industrialized countries. The Parliament was currently
process of defining benchmarks and indicators, the gathering considering a bill proposing that CO emissions should be
of data on traditional knowledge and practices and the use of reduced 10 per cent from1990 levels by 2010.
such data for the purposes of the Convention, the regional
implementation annex for the countries of the eastern and
central European region and, above all, the entry into
operation of the Global Mechanism. The latter raised the
fundamental question of the mobilization of resources. In that
connection, his delegation believed that the budget of the
Convention secretariat for the biennium1998–1999,
amounting to $6 million, was clearly insufficient to finance

48. The full achievement of the objectives of the
Convention required the implementation of bold national
policies covering, on the one hand, socio-economic and
environmental concerns through the rational management of

under the Convention could be linked with advocacy for the
World Solar Programme which had recently been adopted by
the General Assembly. It was by addressing the deep-rooted
causes of desertification that it would be possible to meet the
challenge of sustainable development.

that they were progressively strengthened.

to be held in Buenos Aires, to adopt a work plan with
deadlines. Furthermore, care should be taken to ensure that
the procedures for using flexible mechanisms and greenhouse
gas wells would not jeopardize the targets set in the Kyoto
Protocol.

2

52. With regard to the Convention on Biological Diversity,
the outcome of the most recent Conference of the Parties, held
in Bratislava, represented notable progress. However, the
Convention must have a greater impact in such areas as
agriculture, forestry, economic policy, biological safety,
access to genetic resources and the transfer of technology. In
particular, its provisions on access to genetic resources and
their equitable distribution must be given more practical



A/C.2/53/SR.23

9

expression. The solutions arrived at should be acceptable for addressing the 14 priority areas of the Barbados Programme
both the developing and the industrialized countries. of Action. During the preparations for the special session of
Switzerland actively supported the elaboration of an the General Assembly planned for 1999 on the
international protocol on the prevention of biotechnological implementation of the Programme of Action, her delegation
risk and hoped that an effective instrument would be adopted hoped that the Commission would focus on expected
that would guarantee that international trade in genetically outcomes in order to accelerate implementation. The
modified living organisms would be conducted in complete preparatorywork beingdone by the Small Island Developing
safety. States Unit, in cooperation with UNDP, ECLAC and other

53. On the question of combating desertification, he said
that Switzerland had participated actively in the drafting of
the Convention on the subject and had allocated a significant
amount of bilateral aid to combat that scourge. It would
participate actively in the Conference of the Parties to be held
in Dakar, which should establish the institutional framework
for cooperation and the programme of work for the coming
years. It attached particular importance to the adoption of the
memorandum of understanding between the Conference of the 57. The report of the Secretary-General on plans and
Parties and IFAD regarding the Global Mechanism, which projects implemented in small island developing States
should facilitate the mobilization of resources for the (A/53/358) gave a good idea of the action taken, although it
implementation of the Convention. It would also be desirable was less than complete. The areas which had attracted the
if the arrangements concerning cooperation between the most attention were climate change, biodiversity and
Convention secretariat and the Global Mechanism ensured freshwater resources. There was a certain degree of overlap,
that their respective activities were complementary. as the Global Environment Facility, UNEP andUNDP had

54. Given the increasingly complex nature of the
environmental conventions,each of them must develop links
not only with the other conventions but also with the
international institutions which had specialized experience 58. The small island developing States must re-examine
and knowledge in related fields. From that perspective, their priorities in keeping with their national objectives for
Switzerland welcomed the recommendations of the United the implementation of the Barbados Programme of Action.
Nations Task Force on Environment and Human Settlements. In that way, the impact of projects relating to the
It supported all the efforts that had been made to strengthen implementation of the Programme on sustainable
the coordinating role of UNEP in order to create greater development could be measured more easily. For example,
synergy between the activities undertaken under the various those countries should focus on science and technology. Work
conventions and those of the national and international must also continue on the development of a vulnerability
institutions in the field of environment and sustainable index for small island developing States and data must be
development. In conclusion, he reiterated Switzerland’s great compiled for a more comprehensive assessment of their
interest in the proclamation of the year 2002 as the ecological vulnerability.
International Year of Mountains and said it intended to
participate actively in the preparations for the Year.

55. Ms. Khan-Cummings (Trinidad and Tobago) said provide them with the necessary funds to deal with a full
that, in 1994 at Barbados, the international community had range of priority areas at the national level, and bilateral and
adopted a Programme of Action that was intended to multilateral donors must take their special situation into
complement chapter 17 of Agenda 21 regarding small island account.
developing States. The Programme of Action contained
binding commitments in the areas of climate change and
biodiversity which addressed the special conditions and
vulnerability of those countries.

56. As part of its multi-year work programme, the Framework Convention on Climate Change were significant
Commission on Sustainable Development had been steps in that regard. However, little or no progress had been

agencies with a view to the convening of a donor conference
in February 1999 was encouraging. In Trinidad and Tobago
consultations were ongoing with the various ministries
responsible for the implementation of the Programme of
Action with a view to the early submission of a portfolio of
projects. It was to be hoped that the donor conference would
be successful and that the donor community would make firm
commitments.
 

reported on the same projects. A reporting mechanism should
be developed which would give a clear indication of the origin
of funding for the various projects.

59. The issue of financial resources was crucial for the
economies of small States. The financial institutions must

60. Mr. Kamal (Pakistan), referring to the protection of
the global climate, said that there had been considerable
progress in establishing normative regimes to address the
issue of climate change. The Kyoto Protocol and the



A/C.2/53/SR.23

10

achieved in curbing emissions of greenhouse gases, which environment and sustainable development had increased
were a major cause of climate change. It was unfair to expect tremendously. However, environmental degradation continued
the developing countries, which had neither the technology unabated, and the goals of sustainable development remained
nor the resources, to take the first step; it was for the elusive. Developing countries should therefore be given
developed countries to take the lead. His delegation hoped adequate financial resources and appropriate technologies to
that those critical issues would be discussed in earnest at the enable them to help realize the objectives of Agenda 21.
forthcoming meeting of the Convention’s subsidiary bodies
in Buenos Aires.

61. Turning to the implementation of the outcome of the biological diversity only in recent years, although many
Global Conference on the Sustainable Development of Small species had been threatened for a long time. It was only in
Island Developing States, he said that those countries’ own 1992 that the international community had adopted a legally
efforts to achieve sustainable development must be supported binding instrument on that issue.
by the international community, in particular through financial
assistance.

62. On the issue of climate change, the small island Diversity in Bratislava a few months earlier. The meeting had
developing States depended to a large degree on global action marked the transition from the start-up phase to a long-term
to stop global warming, which posed a serious threat to their plan of action and had developed new guidelines for work
existence. In the meantime, the international community must programmes in several key ecosystems. One of the priorities
help them to build up their capacities to cope with the impact of the meeting had been the adoption of a work programme
of climate change and sea-level rise by providing them with focusing on the elaboration of the first global assessment of
technical and financial assistance. the biodiversity of inland water ecosystems in cooperation

63. Another crucial issue for those States was the
development of a vulnerability index which took intoaccount
all the relevant variables. There was a need for proper
understanding of the complexity of the concept of 69. The Conference of the Parties had decided that a
vulnerability. Work should continue on the building of a Protocol on Biosafety would be adopted at the special session
comprehensive index, taking into account a number of factors of the Conference in1999. The adoption of the Protocol was
such as biodiversity, climate change and sea-level rise. of particular importance to humankind in the field of

64. With respect to combating desertification, which was
as critical to the African countries as the issue of climate
change was to the small island developing States, it should
be noted that the United Nations Convention to Combat
Desertification could not be implemented without adequate
resources and appropriate technologies. In order to increase
the effectiveness of the existing mechanisms for resource
generation, the international community should support the 70. His delegation welcomed the outcome of negotiations
Global Mechanism. It was widely recognized that poverty on replenishment of the Global Environment Facility, which
eradication was an effective strategy for combating had resulted in pledges of $2.75 billion.
desertification and promoting sustainable development.
Africa should be provided with sufficient resources to
implement that strategy.

65. To ensure effective implementation of the Convention, Conference in 2000. It hoped that fruitful cooperation would
a committee should be established for the periodic review of be established with all the stakeholders who wished to
progress on the implementation of the Convention, because participate in the implementation of planned activities in the
the existing review bodies had clearly contributed to area of biodiversity.
accelerating the implementation of other instruments.

66. Since the adoption of the Rio Declaration and Agenda Kyoto Conference, which was an important step towards
21, the total number of legal instruments dealing with reducing the threat caused by global warming. The impending

67. Mr. Štefánek (Slovakia) said that the international
community had been concerned about the conservation of

68. Slovakia had hosted the fourth meeting of the
Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological

with the Commission on Sustainable Development and the
Convention on Wetlands of International Importance
Especially as Waterfowl Habitat.

biotechnology and genetically modified organisms. The
Conference had also reaffirmed the utmost importance of
developing cooperation with the United Nations and with the
other relevant environmental conventions, as well as with the
World Trade Organization, especially within the framework
of the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual
Property Rights.

71. Since the Slovak Republic had been elected president
of the fourth meeting of the Conference of the Parties, it still
had an important role to play until the fifth meeting of the

72. Mr. Ingolfsson (Iceland) welcomed the outcome of the



A/C.2/53/SR.23

11

fourth session of the Conference of the Parties in Buenos of marine living resources, in full compliance with the United
Aires offered an opportunity to finalize some of the Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea and the Agreement
outstanding issues and to make progress on others. for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United

73. In the decision concerning the adoption of the Kyoto
Protocol, it was stated that the Buenos Aires Conference of
the Parties would consider suitable methodologies to address
the situation of parties included in Annex B. Iceland had
proposed a solution to that problem at the meeting of the
subsidiary bodies of the Convention in Bonn a few months
earlier. It had circulated a draft decision to all parties and
wished to urge that the proposal should be given careful
consideration so that the matter could be finalized in Buenos
Aires.

74. It was imperative that meaningful progress should be
made at the next session of the Conference of the Parties with
regard to the development of flexibility mechanisms, because
such mechanisms offered the most cost-effective means of
combating climate change.

75. In order to facilitate consensus-building with respect
to the rules and modalities concerning emissions trading, joint
implementation and the clean development mechanism,
Iceland had participated in conceptual work conducted by a
group of nations which had resulted in the presentation of a
discussion paper at the Bonn meeting, which should facilitate
consensus.

76. The Kyoto Protocol recognized carbon sequestration
as an important means of combating climate change. Sink
enhancement was, however, limited to afforestation. Iceland
had therefore proposed that the revegetation of degraded land
should be recognized as sink enhancement. Restoration of
degraded land was also important in the context of the
Convention to Combat Desertification. It would therefore be
useful for the objectives of the two conventions to include that
activity in the list of activities aimed at enhancing carbon
uptake by sinks.

77. His delegation welcomed the results of the fourth
meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention
on Biological Diversity held recently in Bratislava. It
welcomed, in particular, the adoption of the decision on the
conservation and sustainable use of marine and coastal
biological diversity. Icelanders were very conscious of the
importance of that issue, because such resources constituted
the single largest source of protein and represented a crucial
part of the earth’s ecosystem.

78. Iceland had taken an active part in the development of
the programme of work on that issue. It wished to stress, in
that regard, that it was imperative to focus efforts on
promoting the sustainable management of biological diversity

Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea relating to the
Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and
Highly Migratory Species, taking into account the Code of
Conduct for Responsible Fisheries of the Food and
Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. A decision
would also have to be taken as to which of the activities
should be carried out at the global level and which should be
implemented at the regional or national level. In that context,
priority should be given to the creation and strengthening of
regional scientific centres of excellence on marine and coastal
ecosystems in order to provide guidance to regional and
national managers. That endeavour of cooperation with a view
to the conservation and sustainable management of marine
and coastal biological diversity must remain transparent.
Towards that end, national experts should undertake peer
reviews.

79. Iceland recognized the importance of combating
desertification, a phenomenon which had the most direct
impact on the living conditions, poverty and food security of
people. Therefore the Convention adopted on that issue was
about the survival of present generations and securing a better
life for future generations. The strong link between land
degradation and living conditions had been demonstrated in
his own country, which was experiencing the impact of
large-scale erosion and loss of vegetation cover.
Desertification and rangeland degradation, stemming
particularly from deforestation and overgrazing, had resulted
in the loss of half of the soil cover in Iceland.

80. The processes leading to desertification in different
climatic regions of the world were strikingly similar.
Strengthened cooperation among such regions could promote
the implementation of the Convention, and its evaluation
could be enhanced through broad-based scientific input.

81. The implementation of the Convention to Combat
Desertification must not be seen in isolation from that of other
instruments adopted on the environment. In particular, the
principles incorporated in the Convention on Biological
Diversity must be kept in mind. The important linkage with
the Framework Convention on Climate Change must also be
recognized.

82. Mr. Ferjan ggigg (Slovenia) said that sustainable
development necessitated dealing with its environmental
component simultaneously with its social and economic
components, and called for a radical change in production and
consumption patterns.



A/C.2/53/SR.23

12

83. Various international institutions already dealt with aggression against Kuwait in1990 had had catastrophic
specific aspects of sustainable development. For its part, consequences for the marine environment of Kuwait and the
Slovenia had decided to focus its activities on particular Gulf. Several ships lay on the sea floor in the northern part
initiatives and conventions. As an alpine country, it attached of the Gulf. The salvage operation, which would be paid for
particular importance to the implementation of the Alpine by the States members of the GCC, would cost some tens of
Convention on the Protection of the Mountains and to millions of dollars and represented a pollution risk, because
questions concerning preservation of mountain areas in many of the vessels were full of crude oil. The GCC’s
general. Director for the protection of the environment had confirmed

84. Although Slovenia was still eligible for Global
Environment Facility grants it had decided, in view of the
extreme importance of that mechanism, to contribute to the
second replenishment of its Trust Fund. Slovenia had recently
signed the Kyoto Protocol on Climate Change, after first
preparing a detailed programme for its implementation. The
activities provided forunder the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change and its Kyoto Protocol were
of vital importance for small island developing States, since
they were affected most dramatically by the consequences of
climate change. For that reason, their needs had to be given
high priority. Slovenia would continue its work in that area. 89.Ms. Corado (Guatemala) said that her country, which

85. The problem of desertification was not just a matter for
a few regions of the world: in the near future, mitigation of
the effects of drought could become a priority even for States
that were currently unaffected by that phenomenon. It was
important to take preventive action before being forced to
react.

86. One of the obvious priorities for Slovenia was the
preservation of biological diversity. The implementation of
the Convention on Biological Diversity was proceeding
apace. In the context of sustainable development, Slovenia
shared the view that the international community should
accord special attention to the most fragile ecosystems, such
as mountain areas. Therefore, it supported the proposal that
the year 2000 should be proclaimed the International Year
of Mountains.

87. Mr. Al-Banay (Kuwait) said that his country accorded
particular importance to the environment in the context of
development policy. Environmental issues were addressed
by a number of national and regional bodies. In addition, the
Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC), of which Kuwait was
currently President, had adopted two important documents
at its eighteenth session held in Kuwait in 1997. The
documents outlined a framework agreement on waste
management, providing for the promulgation of legislation
aimed at rationalizing production, storage, transport and
treatment of waste and at establishing a unified system for the
protection of wild fauna and flora in the member States.

88. On the occasion of the International Year of the Ocean,
his delegation wished to draw attention to the fact that Iraq’s

that by the time the coalition forces arrived in1991, between
2.5 and 3 million barrels of crude oil a day were leaking into
the waters of the Gulf from the 700 wells to which Iraq had
set fire. Huge quantities of oil had also been dumped on
agricultural land, leaving it uncultivable for decades to come.
In addition, landmines had been planted on Kuwaiti territory,
claiming hundreds of innocent civilian victims. Kuwait
wished to express its gratitude to the United Nations and the
specialized agencies for their work in assessing the impact
of that ecological catastrophe and identifying measures to
remedy it and restore the environmental situation.

was a State party to the Framework Convention on Climate
Change and to the Kyoto Protocol as well as a member of the
regional body on climate change established by the Central
American States in 1993, had created a national council on
climate change with responsibility for guaranteeing protection
of the climate and promoting measures to stabilize greenhouse
gas emissions. That body had launched a number of
initiatives, including the drawing up of an inventory of
greenhouse gases, an analysis of climate protection measures
and the elaboration of a plan of action to combat climate
change.

90. Her Government had also set up a technical office
whose task was to canvass support from potential investors
in developed countries for greenhouse gas reduction projects
to be carried out in Guatemala. The office was currently
negotiating a number of projects in the areas of energy and
forestry.

91. It was important to implement the Kyoto Protocol. To
that end, Guatemala would participate actively in the fourth
Conference of the States parties to be held in Buenos Aires.
The negotiations should not rule out any agro-forestry system
in discussion of the use of soil as a carbon sink. For its part,
Guatemala would not make any commitments without having
first evaluated their social and economic impact. With regard
to the Clean Development Mechanism, the joint
implementation approach should be used and current projects
should be included. The Mechanism should have a simple,
functional structure and a specific mandate. In order to
measure and monitor climate change, existing institutions
needed to be strengthened through the provision of



A/C.2/53/SR.23

13

appropriate resources, training of local personnel and 96. It was to be hoped that at the second session of the
technology transfer. Conference of the Parties, to be held in Dakar in1998, the

92. Mr. Andjaba (Namibia) said that his country attached
great importance to the question of drought and
desertification, since it consisted for the most part of arid
lands, and its variable climate and low levels of rainfall often
resulted in severe drought. The natural process of
desertification was accelerated by other problems, such as 97. At the session in Dakar, the Parties would also have an
unviable agricultural practices and generalized poverty opportunity of examining the cooperation and
among the rural population. Rapid population growth further complementaritybetween the Convention on Desertification
exacerbated the pressures on the environment, since most and the other two Conventions that had been born of the Rio
Namibians depended on natural resources, particularly Conference. It was essential for that session to produce a
agricultural land, in order to meet their needs. definitive agreement, so that the institutions of the Convention

93. Some 143 States had already ratified the Convention
to Combat Desertification. It was significant that 51 out of 52 98. With respect to international cooperation for the
African States, including Namibia, were among the States implementation of the objectives of the Convention on
parties, together with all the member States of the European Desertification, it was gratifying to observe that growing
Union. numbers of States had ratified the Convention and that the

94. His delegation noted with satisfaction the progress made
in the negotiations regarding the signing of the Headquarters
Agreement between the Government of Germany and the
Secretary-General, and regarding the Global Mechanism.
However, the Convention could be fully implemented only if
the countries seriously affected by drought and desertification
received the necessary assistance, especially with respect to
capacity-building, the training of personnel involved in land 99. Where regional and subregional cooperation between
management, and the transfer of appropriate technologies. At developing countries to combat desertification was
the second session of the Conference of the Parties to the concerned, the African regional preparatory meeting for the
Conference in Senegal, the States Parties would need to second session of the Conference of the Parties would shortly
devote much attention to the implementation of the be taking place in Tunis; at that meeting the participants
Convention; consideration of the interlinkages between the would devote their efforts to the formulation of national
Convention on Desertification and the Framework Convention programmes, consideration of the prospects for subregional
on Climate Change was also an interesting idea that would be cooperation, and the preparation of a regional action
worth pursuing. programme to combat desertification. They would also

95. Mr. Azaiez (Tunisia) noted that the international
community was showing greater interest in the problem of
desertification, as was apparent from the success of the first100. Tunisia would also be hosting a research and
session of the Conference of the Parties, held in Rome in development seminar on arid-land farming and the effort to
1997. There was reason for satisfaction at the decisions taken combat desertification, which would be attended by North
on that occasion, particularly with respect to the functions of African and West African States and research bodies. The
the Global Mechanism and the approach that had been participants would consider means of combating the scourge
adopted to the task of mobilizing financial resources. The of desertification and would compare notes on their
selection of the International Fund for Agricultural experience with it.
Development (IFAD) to house the Global Mechanism should
be satisfactory in terms of the interests of the States Parties
to the Convention. The support ofUNDP and the World Bank
also augured well for the attainment of the Convention’s
objectives as set by the international community.

participants would adopt the memorandum of understanding
linking the Conference to IFAD. The participants would also
consider the report on the Global Mechanism’s activities and
would be able, on the same occasion, to formulate guidelines
to direct its work.

could be established and become operational immediately.

developed countries were showing interest in it. Those
countries, however, should honour their commitments
towards the countries of the South by mobilizing additional
financial resources, facilitating transfers of technology and
know-how, and helping the developing States Parties affected
by desertification to apply their own strategies for mitigating
the impact of drought.

consider traditional technologies, knowledge and practices
used in that context.

101. At the national level, the efforts that Tunisia had been
making for the past 30 years had resulted in a more accurate
perception of the problem of desertification, greater
awareness of the mechanisms of erosion and desertification,
and a better understanding of how to combat those phenomena
in ways that were socially acceptable and economically



A/C.2/53/SR.23

14

viable. The problem of desertification was so complex, made at the United Nations Conference on Environment and
however, that efforts to date had not succeeded in checking Development.
its insidious advance.

102. Tunisia was endeavouring to preserve the environment its domestic law relating to forests, grasslands, and the
in accordance with its commitments under Agenda 21. The preservation of soils and drainage basins, and had also drafted
task of the developing countries could be successfully legislation aimed at combating desertification. It had
completed only within a common framework embracing all established an executive committee entrusted with the task
components of the international community. of implementing the Convention, prepared a national action

103. Ms. Wang Yinxia (China) said that the coming into
force of the Framework Convention on Climate Change had
marked an important step forward in the international
community’s campaign against that phenomenon. The
countries that were responsible for the current environmental
situation should take immediate action to mitigate the impact 109. The solution to the environmental problems of small
of greenhouse gas emissions on the environment. island developing States, which were seldom of their own

104. Although the Kyoto Protocol was incomplete in many
respects, it had established a timetable for the developed
countries, which were primarily responsible for greenhouse
gas emissions, to reduce their emissions of carbon dioxide and
five other greenhouse gases between2008 and 2012. It was
neither fair nor realistic to expect the developing countries
to undertake such an arduous task when their main concern
was to develop their economies and meet the fundamental
needs of their peoples.

105. China, although a developing country, had nonetheless
adopted measures aimed at alleviating the environmental
situation. Among other things, it had taken action to control
its population growth, develop its renewable energy sources
in order to reduce coal consumption, enhance energy
efficiency, carry out reforestation projects and develop
organic farming.

106. China was not in favour of the hasty adoption of an
approach to development based on non-polluting
technologies, and emphasized that such an approach should
be considered only insofar as it served to supplement
measures taken by the developing countries to reduce their
greenhouse gas emissions.

107. China was pleased to note that since the entry into force
of the Convention to Combat Desertification, which was the
first step in the implementation of Agenda 21, there had been
more international cooperation in that area. Not only was such
cooperation essential for the countries affected by
desertification, it was also in the long-term interests of all
countries. Accordingly, it was to be hoped that the developed
countries which were Parties to the Convention would provide
the affected countries with the necessary technical and
financial assistance and live up to the commitments they had

108. In recent years, China had introduced amendments to

plan, and opened a research centre and a training and
monitoring centre. A ministerial conference on the
implementation of the Convention in Asia had been held in
Beijing in 1997 and had concluded with the Beijing
Declaration.

making, was to be worked out within the framework of
international cooperation in the area of the environment and
development, and thus called for the support of the
international community as a whole. China would participate
actively in both the preparatory work for and the special
session of the General Assembly that was to consider the
outcome of the Global Conference on the Sustainable
Development of Small Island Developing States, which had
produced the Programme of Action for the Sustainable
Development of Small Island Developing States. China hoped
that at the next meeting of the Commission on Sustainable
Development progress would be made with the development
of a vulnerability index for those States.

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m.


